#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Oct 04 2010 08:21 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman

VILLAGE LEAGUE TO SAVE INCLINE ASSETS, INC., a Nevada non-profit corporation, on behalf of its members and others similarly situated; MARYANNE INGEMANSON, Trustee of the Larry D. and Maryanne B. Ingemanson Trust; DEAN R. INGEMANSON, individual and as Trustee of the Dean R. Ingemanson Trust; J. ROBERT ANDERSON; and LES BARTA; on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated;

Appellants,

vs.

STATE OF NEVADA, *ex rel*. State Board of Equalization; WASHOE COUNTY; and BILL BERRUM, Washoe County Treasurer;

Respondents.

APPEAL
Case No. CV03-06922

#### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This appeal is from a final order of dismissal in the trial court. The final order of dismissal was entered on April 20, 2010. Final notice of entry of judgment was served on April 21, 2010. Notice of appeal was filed on May 12, 2010, within the 30 days provided by Rule 4 of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under Rule 3A(b)(1) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in dismissing taxpayers' petition for mandamus on the grounds that taxpayers were "seeking a judicial remedy that does not exist."
- 2. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in dismissing taxpayers' petition for mandamus on the grounds that taxpayers asked for "an impermissible exercise of the [trial court's] lawful authority" notwithstanding taxpayers' express representations that they were asking the court to act only "to the extent permitted by law."
- 3. Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law in dismissing taxpayers' petition for mandamus on the grounds that equalization regulations proposed for adoption in 2010 constituted a "plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law" barring taxpayers' pre-2010 claims?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. The Nature of the Case, the Course of the Proceedings, and the Disposition Below

The complaint in this case was filed in November of 2003. **Joint Appendix (Apx), Vol. 1, pp. 1-18.** Taxpayer petitioner-plaintiffs ("taxpayers") alleged claims for relief alleging both the improper valuation of their Incline Village residential properties for property tax purposes and the failure of the State Board of Equalization to perform its affirmative duty of equalization of property values. **Id.** Both claims were made with respect to the then current 2003-2004 tax year. **Id.** 

In June of 2004, the trial court dismissed the complaint on the grounds that taxpayers had failed to exhaust their administrative remedies. Apx, Vol. 1, p. 23. Taxpayers appealed. Id., p. 24. In March of 2009, in its Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part and Remanding, this Supreme Court affirmed the dismissal of the taxpayers' valuation claims but returned the equalization claim to the trial court on the basis that there was no administrative process for equalization. Id., pp. 28-37.

On June 19, 2009, with leave of court, taxpayers filed an amended petition for mandamus. **Apx, Vol. I, pp. 190-199.** Alleging that, under NRS 361.395, the State Board of Equalization had a duty to equalize both within and between counties in the State of Nevada, taxpayers sought equalization relief both within Washoe County and between comparable Lake Tahoe properties in Douglas and Washoe Counties. **Id.** Both the State Board of Equalization and the Washoe County parties filed motions to dismiss. **Id., Vol. II, pp. 274-283 and pp. 284-315.** 

In 2009 as well, the State Department of Taxation drafted equalization regulations and initiated the administrative process for having those regulations adopted. **Apx, Vol. II, p. 279.** On March 1, 2010, the proposed regulations were adopted by the State Board of Equalization. **Id., Vol. III, pp. 429, 446-462.** On March 3, 2010, Washoe County supplemented its briefing on its pending motion to dismiss with a "Statement of New Authority" attaching the proposed regulations. **Id., pp. 427-527.** 

In March of 2010 as well, when the briefing was completed, the motions were argued and the Court took them under submission. **Apx, Vol. IV, p. 718.** As noted by the trial court at the time of the argument, these regulations were "proposed" and not final until such time as they were approved by the Legislative Commission's Subcommittee to Review Regulations. **Id., pp. 677-678.**<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court can take judicial notice that the Subcommittee approval came on April 19, 2010, as reflected in the Subcommittee's April 19, 2010 agenda and the Nevada Register under 2009 Proposed and Approved Regulations. See Addendum, pp. 1-25. The trial court made no mention in its April 20, 2010 Second Amended Order of the approved status of the regulation. The timing was apparently coincidental.

The initial order granting both the County and State motions and dismissing the amended petition was issued on April 13, 2010. **Apx, Vol. IV, pp. 727-738.** Amended and Second Amended Orders were subsequently issued, respectively on April 13 and April 20, 2010. **Id., pp. 739-761.** This appeal was taken on May 12, 2010. **Id., pp. 776-778.** 

#### B. Statement of Facts

The trial court dismissed the taxpayers' amended petition without requiring either the State Board or the County respondents to answer. The facts as set forth in the allegations of the pleading are as follows:

The Village League To Save Incline Assets, Inc. is a Nevada nonprofit membership corporation whose members, including the individual petitioners Maryanne Ingemanson, Dean Ingemanson, J. Robert Anderson, and Les Barta, in either their individual or representative capacities, own and pay taxes on residential real property at Crystal Bay and/or Incline Village, in Washoe County, Nevada, or did at times relevant to this proceeding. **Apx, Vol. I, pp. 190-191.** The Village League and its individually named taxpayer members (collectively "taxpayers") bring this action as a class action on behalf of the similarly situated owners of approximately 9000 residential real property parcels at Crystal Bay and Incline Village. **Id., p. 192.** 

The respondent State Board of Equalization is an agency of the State of Nevada vested with the affirmative statutory responsibility and mandate under NRS 361.395 annually to equalize residential real property valuations within and between the counties of Nevada. **Apx, Vol. I, pp. 191-192.** It is the duty of respondents Washoe County and of Bill Berrum, as Treasurer, to collect all real property taxes from residential property owners within the County and to refund all excess taxes paid. **Id., p. 192.** 

For the tax year 2003-2004 and subsequent years, the Washoe County Assessor determined the taxable value of residential real property at Incline Village and Crystal Bay using valuation methodologies in ways that were not approved or promulgated by Tax Commission regulation and that were not used elsewhere in the State

of Nevada, including for similarly situated residential properties at Lake Tahoe in Douglas County, Nevada. Apx, Vol. I, p. 194. In State ex rel. State Bd. of Equalization v. Bakst (Bakst), 122 Nev. 1403, 148 P.3d 717 (2006), and State ex rel. State Bd. of Equalization v. Barta (Barta), 124 Nev. 58, 188 P.3d 1092 (2008), this Court determined that the Assessor's use of such valuation methodologies resulted in unconstitutional and void valuations and assessments. This Court set aside the Assessor's valuations and rolled back the land valuation to 2002-2003 levels. Taxpayers alleged that the similar treatment of similarly situated taxpayers which is the State's standard of equalization requires the State Board of Equalization, pursuant to its duty of statewide equalization under NRS §361.395, to equalize the land valuation of all residential properties at Incline Village and Crystal Bay for the 2003-2004 tax year to 2002-2003 values. Id., p. 195.

The unlawful valuation methodologies used by the Washoe County Assessor's Office also resulted in a disparity in valuation for property tax purposes between similarly situated residential properties at Lake Tahoe in Douglas and Washoe Counties for the tax year 2003/2004 and subsequent tax years. Notwithstanding that disparity, the State Board of Equalization failed to equalize assessments between Douglas and Washoe County for any of those years as required by the Nevada Constitution and statutes. **Apx, Vol. I, pp. 195-196.** As a result of the State Board's failure to perform its duty of equalization, the respective residential properties owned by taxpayers were over-valued and excess taxes were paid and collected. **Id., p. 196.** Taxpayers further alleged their right to the refund of those excess taxes. **Id.** 

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court stated three grounds for dismissing the taxpayers' amended petition, writing as follows:

(1) Taxpayers "are seeking a judicial remedy that does not exist under Nevada's present taxable-value system." **Apx, Vol. IV, p. 760, lns. 15-16.** 

(2) Taxpayers ask the trial court "to direct the State Board of Equalization to exercise its regulatory discretion to achieve a predetermined result which is an impermissible exercise of this court's lawful authority." **Id., lns.**16-18.

(3) Taxpayers "have a plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law through the newly promulgated procedures of the State Board of Equalization." Id., lns. 18-20.

None of these grounds can be sustained. The dismissal of the taxpayers' petition was a clear abuse of the trial court's discretion. See, e.g., Stockmeier v. Psychological Review Panel, 122 Nev. 534, 538, 135 P.3d 807, 809 (2006).

Taxpayers are not seeking a remedy that "does not exist." Taxpayers are seeking a remedy in mandamus to compel the State Board of Equalization to perform its equalization duties. This Court has itself said that "Under NRS 361.395(1), the State Board clearly has a duty to equalize property valuations throughout the state. " <u>Barta</u>, <u>supra</u>, 188 P.3d at 1102. Where there is a duty, there is a reciprocal right. Taxpayers are seeking only to enforce that right. Under the trial court's holding, the State Board could never be held accountable for a failure to perform its equalization duties.

Taxpayers did not ask the trial court to override the discretionary authority of the State Board of Equalization. Taxpayers stated unequivocably that they were "not asking the court to control the Board's discretion." **Apx, Vol. II, p. 325, ln. 5.** Taxpayers noted that, after six years of litigation and notwithstanding its clear duty of equalization under the statute, the State Board of Equalization had not even answered the petition. Taxpayers only asked the trial court to

act to the extent permitted by law to avoid the necessity of another appeal, another decision by the Supreme Court reversing an erroneous determination by the State Board, yet another remand to the State Board to try again, and another six years or more before the constitutional rights of taxpayers are vindicated. Id., Ins. 8-12 (Emphasis added.)

Finally, it is truly "mind boggling" that the trial court would dismiss the taxpayers' 2003 action on the basis of the availability of an administrative remedy that, if available at all, clearly did not exist in 2003. In 2009, this Court remanded the taxpayers' equalization claim to the trial court on the basis that, in the absence of an administrative process, the exhaustion doctrine did not bar the claim. The State Board cannot adopt an administrative process seven years after the fact and then assert it as a bar to the earlier claim. The trial court would apparently hold the taxpayers accountable for not exhausting a process that did not exist but would not hold the State Board accountable for failing its statutory duty.

At the very least, if it thought the new process afforded taxpayers a remedy, rather than dismiss the taxpayers' claims, the trial court should have directed the State Board to apply that new process in the performance of its long delayed equalization duties for the 2003-2004 and interim tax years. In any event, the trial court could not have examined the State Board "newly promulgated procedures" with sufficient care. To quote the old truism, "the devil is in the details." There is no way under those procedures for taxpayers to seek or obtain equalization for the 2003-2004 tax year or any year prior to the regulations October 1, 2010 effective date. In fact, taxpayers have no rights of any kind under those procedures but that is an issue for another case. It is sufficient onto the instant case that those procedure provide no remedy for any period of time prior to October 1, 2010. As this Court already recognized in this very case, before a claim can be dismissed on the basis of the availability of an administrative procedure, that procedure must both exist and be available to the claimant.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's denial of a writ petition is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Stockmeier, supra. To the extent this appeal involves issues of law, those are reviewed de novo. Nevada Serv. Employees Union v. Orr, 121 Nev. 675, 678, 119 P.3d 1259, 1261 (2005); Paige v. State, 116 Nev. 206, 208, 995 P.2d 1020, 1021 (2000); see also,

<u>Awada v. Shuffle Master, Inc.</u>, 123 Nev. 613, 618, 173 P.3d 707, 711 (2007); <u>Ex parte Terry</u>, 957 So.2d 455, 457 (Ala.2006); <u>Alliance for a Better Downtown Millbrae v. Wade</u>, 133 Cal.Rptr.2d 249, 253 (Cal.App. 2003); <u>In re MCI Telecommunications Complaint</u>, 596 N.W.2d 164, 175 (Mich. 1999).

## II. TAXPAYERS ARE ENTITLED TO A MANDATE COMPELLING THE STATE BOARD TO PERFORM ITS DUTY OF EQUALIZATION.

By statute, the extraordinary writ of mandamus is available "to compel the performance of an act which the law especially enjoins as a duty resulting from an office, trust or station" in the absence of "a plain, speedy and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law." NRS 34.160; NRS 34.170; Round Hill Gen. Imp. Dist. v. Newman, 97 Nev. 601, 637 P.2d 534 (1981). The State Board's affirmative statutory duty of equalization is clear. Barta, supra, 188 P.3d at 1102. Even if the newly promulgated regulations provided a remedy for taxpayers seeking equalization of their 2010-2011 property tax assessments (which taxpayers dispute), taxpayers indisputably had no remedy under the law in 2003 when they initiated this action. Under the statutes, when the duty is clear and no other remedy is available, taxpayers have a right to relief in mandamus.

What the trial court means when it writes that taxpayers "are seeking a judicial remedy that does not exist under Nevada's present value system" is unclear. Surely, it cannot mean that the State Board of Equalization is beyond the reach of the law or that the constitutional guaranty of uniform and equal taxation is illusory. Even if the trial court is suggesting that Constitutionally mandated uniform and equal taxation is impossible in Nevada's taxable value system, the conclusion must be that that system is unconstitutional. Figuratively throwing up the judiciary's hands in futility and acquiescing in unconstitutional property tax assessments is not the answer.

# III. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DISMISSING THE PETITION ON THE GROUNDS THAT TAXPAYERS ASKED THE COURT TO EXCEED ITS LAWFUL AUTHORITY IN THE OF UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE TO THE CONTRARY.

In their amended petition, filed some five and a half years after their initial

MORRIS PETERSON ATTORNEYS AT LAW 5100 NEIL ROAD, SUITE 555 RENO, NEVADA 89511 775/829-6000 FAX 775/829-6001

pleading, taxpayers attempted to incorporate both this Court's interim determinations in Bakst, supra, and Barta, supra, and the concerns raised by effecting statewide equalization for the 2003-2004 tax year at that late date. Accordingly, taxpayers sought the limited relief of effecting equalization within the Incline Village/Crystal Bay area of Washoe County. Apx, Vol. I, p. 196. Taxpayers also sought equalization between Douglas and Washoe Counties and any other or different relief to which they might be "adjudged entitled to" in the case. Id. The trial court dismissed the amended petition, in part, on the basis that taxpayers were asking the court to interfere with the regulatory discretion of the State Board of Equalization. Apx, Vol. IV, p.760. The record, however, establishes that the trial court has mischaracterized the taxpayers' prayer for relief in that regard.

Taxpayers did not ask the trial court to predetermine the exercise by the State Board of any discretionary act. Both NRS 361.395 and this Court have made it clear that the State Board's duty of equalization is not discretionary. The "discretion" that may be exercised by the Board in the performance of that duty. is, furthermore, not unfettered and cannot be exercised without reference to applicable law or established fact. In the interest of avoiding additional delays in effecting constitutionally uniform and equal assessment for the 2003-2004 tax year and the several subsequent years, taxpayers asked the trial court to provide guidance to the Board "to the extent permitted by law." Apx, Vol. II, p. 325, ln. 8. Taxpayers did not ask the trial court to do anything that would be "an impermissible exercise of [the court's] lawful authority."

The duty of the State Board of Equalization applies within as well as between counties. There is no legal barrier to the order requested by taxpayers for equalization within the Incline Village/Crystal Bay area of Washoe County where the lack of equalization is a documented fact. Even if equalization within the Incline Village/Crystal Bay area were somehow "inappropriate," taxpayers did not limit their request for relief in that regard. Taxpayers also sought equalization by the State Board pursuant to NRS 361.395 between the Lake Tahoe properties in Douglas and Washoe Counties as

well as such other equalization relief as they might be adjudicated entitled to. **Apx, Vol.** I, p. 196. In its Order Affirming In Part, Reversing In Part and Remanding, this Court held that "insofar as Village League alleged that the State Board failed to perform an act required by law and sought an order directing that act's performance, such was appropriately raised in its district court complaint." Id., p. 34, lns. 4-7. It was an abuse of the trial court's discretion to dismiss the taxpayers' entire petition on the basis that the court could not order a part of the relief sought.

## IV. THE 2010 EQUALIZATION REGULATIONS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A PLAIN, SPEEDY AND ADEQUATE REMEDY AT LAW REQUIRING THE DISMISSAL OF TAXPAYERS' 2003 ACTION

The taxpayers' petition lies in mandamus. By statute, mandamus is unavailable where the party has a "plain, speedy and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law." NRS 34.170. Under that standard, the trial court dismissed taxpayers' amended petition on the basis that the future implementation of equalization regulations proposed by the State Department of Taxation and approved by the State Board of Equalization in 2010 somehow constituted a "plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law" for the Board's failure of equalization in 2003 and subsequent pre-2010 tax years. **Apx, Vol. IV, pp. 760, lns. 18-20.** The trial court is plainly wrong under the law.

# A. The Trial Court Effectively Dismissed The Taxpayers' Amended Petition For Failure To Exhaust An Administrative "Remedy" That Not Only Did Not Exist When The Action Was Commenced But Was Not Created For Several Years Afterwards.

If the 2010 equalization regulations provided a process for equalization, the trial court should have entered an order in mandamus requiring the State Board to utilize those regulations to provide taxpayers with the long delayed equalization of their property tax assessments for the 2003-2004 and subsequent tax years. Instead of ordering the State Board to perform its 2003-2004 equalization duties utilizing its new regulations, however, the trial court inexplicably dismissed the petition.

In March of 2009, in its Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part and

Remanding, this Supreme Court returned the equalization claim to the trial court on the basis that there was no administrative process for equalization. Apx, Vol. I, p. 34. The trial court has now effectively "reversed" this Court's remand order and dismissed the equalization claim on the basis that taxpayers had an administrative remedy after all even if they did not know about it because it did not actually exist at the time. The trial court here punished the taxpayers as though they failed to "exhaust" an administrative procedure that indisputably did not even exist when they brought their initial complaint. The court's ruling is not supported by either legal precedent or common sense. That ruling must be reversed.

## B. The 2010 Equalization Regulations Provide No Basis On Which Taxpayers Could Seek Or Obtain Equalization Of Assessments For The 2003-2004 Tax Year Or Any Other Year Prior To 2010.

Assuming, for purposes of argument, that mandamus may be defeated by a legal "remedy" that is created during the pendency of an action, that "remedy" must still meet the requirements of both "adequacy" and actual "availability" under NRS 34.170. By their express terms, however, the new equalization regulations meet neither requirement. In fact, the taxpayers' ability to obtain or even to seek equalization of their 2003-2004 assessments under the State Board's new "equalization" regulations is every bit as nonexistent now as it was in 2003.

To support the denial of relief in mandamus here on the basis of an available and adequate remedy, an administrative process must provide not only for the full participation by the taxpayer but also for the right of judicial review. Rather than create an administrative process is which the taxpayer was a full participant and the decisions made were subject to judicial review, however, the Department of Taxation has drafted and the State Board has approved a closed administrative process involving the County Assessors, the Department and the Board. Apx, Vol. III, pp. 450-462.

The **only** role permitted to the taxpayer under those regulations is to testify as an "interested person" at an equalization hearing called by the State Board of Equalization. Apx, Vol. III, pp. 450, 460 (Sec. 19(2)(a)). Even that limited role is

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