IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

VILLAGE LEAGUE TO SAVE INCLINE ASSETS INC.; a Nevada non-profit corporation, on behalf of their members, and others similarly situated; MARYANNE INGEMANSON, Trustee of the Larry D. and Maryanne B. Ingemanson Trust; DEAN R. INGEMANSON, individually and as Trustee of the DEAN R. INGEMANSON Trust; J. ROBERT ANDERSON; and LES BARTA, on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated,

Electronically Filed Nov 03 2010 03:59 p.m. Suprāraei@tĶŅoint@aflan

Second Judicial District Court Case No. CV03-06922

Appellants,

VS.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the Village League is not entitled to a mandamus order to compel the State Board of Equalization to return the land values of residential real property located in the area of Incline Village/Crystal Bay for the 2003-2004 and 2004-2005 tax years to the 2002-2003 levels for both years.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Mandamus cannot issue in this case because Village League cannot show that it has a clear legal right to the relief request. Indeed, an order in mandamus to roll back property values and refund taxes paid as requested by Village League is not possible because courts do not have the authority to exercise their own discretion for that of the public body being compelled to perform its duty. Accordingly, because the mandamus relief requested by Village League is not authorized by any statute of law, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Village League's Petition for Mandamus Relief and dismissing its Amended Complaint.

IV. **ARGUMENT**

The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Denying Village Α. League's Petition for Writ of Mandamus Because Village League is Not Entitled to The Relief It Requested

1. Overview of Nevada's Property Tax System

Although there is general mention of equalization in NRS 361.395, that the State Board must "Equalize property valuations in the State," the State Board equalizes primarily pursuant to several other provisions in NRS and NAC Chapter 361. Indeed, sections other than NRS 361.395 provide the State Board with the authority and direction to value property and achieve appropriate taxable values through hearing individual taxpayer appeals, comparing taxable value to full cash value and determining if the proper appraisal methods were applied by the assessors. A brief overview of those sections is provided. Initially, County Assessors are required to appraise "all real property at least once every five years." NRS 361.260(6). "The computed taxable value [of land and improvements] must not exceed its full cash value."

¹ NRS 361.395 Equalization of property values and review of tax rolls by State Board of Equalization; notice of proposed increase in valuation.

^{1.} During the annual session of the State Board of Equalization beginning on the fourth Monday in March of each year, the State Board of Equalization shall:

⁽a) Equalize property valuations in the State.

⁽b) Review the tax rolls of the various counties as corrected by the county boards of equalization thereof and raise or lower, equalizing and establishing the taxable value of the property, for the purpose of the valuations therein established by all the county assessors and county boards of equalization and the Nevada Tax Commission, of any class or piece of property in whole or in part in any county, including those classes of property enumerated in NRS 361.320.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

28

NRS 361.227(5). "Full cash value" is defined as "the most probable price which property would bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale." NRS 361.025. In determining whether the taxable value of a property exceeds its full cash value, an assessor may use, as applicable, one or more of the following: (1) an analysis of comparative sales; (2) a summation of land and improvement values; and (3) a capitalization of the income generated by the use of the property. NRS 361.227(5). If the taxable value of a property exceeds its full cash value, the taxable value must be reduced If the land is properly valued, then the reduction must be applied to the accordingly. Id. improvements. NAC 361.131.

Pursuant to NRS 361.345(1), the County Board of Equalization "may change and correct any valuation found to be incorrect either by adding thereto or by deducting therefrom such sum as is necessary to make it conform to the taxable value of the property assessed " Finally, a taxpayer who disagrees with the County Assessor's valuation may appeal to the County Board of Equalization, which is required to "make an independent determination of the valuation of the property assessed." NAC 361.627. NRS 361.355, a property owner "claiming overvaluation or excessive valuation of its real or secured property . . . shall appear before the county board of equalization" taxpayer is aggrieved by the decision rendered by the County Board of Equalization, the taxpayer may appeal to the State Board of Equalization. See, NRS 361.356 concerning appeals to the County Board of Equalization. Pursuant to NRS 361.360, should a taxpayer be aggrieved by a decision of the County Board, he can appeal to the State Board of Equalization. NRS 361.400 mandates that the State Board of Equalization "hear and determine all appeals from the action of each county board of equalization" NRS 361.410(1) states, in part, as follows:

25 111

111 26

27 111

Nevada Office of the Attorney General 100 North Carson Street 11 12 13 14 Carson City, 15 16 17 18

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

No taxpayer may be deprived of any remedy or redress in a court of law relating to the payment of taxes, but all such actions must be for redress from the findings of the State Board of Equalization, and no action may be instituted upon the act of a county assessor or of a county board of equalization or the Nevada Tax Commission until the State Board of Equalization has denied complainant relief

Pursuant to NRS 361.420, a property owner may seek an appeal to a District Court after "having protested the payment of taxes . . . and having been denied relief by the State Board of Equalization " The District Court must confine its review to the record before the State Board of Equalization; and the taxpayer has the burden of proof that "any valuation established by the Nevada Tax Commission or the county assessor or equalized by the County Board of Equalization or the State Board of Equalization is unjust and inequitable." NRS 361.430.

The State Board has equalized as provided above and has equalized certain areas when it appears during an individual appeal that other properties are subject to similar factors that would influence values. When the State Board has applied its broad equalization powers to an area, it usually hears a specific case and determines that the property is over assessed, over valued. The State Board then applies the same reduction to those properties that are similarly situated. For example in the Trujillo case, the Trujillos presented evidence that "the subject property has been inequitably treated . . . because of various detriments . . . not given proper consideration." See, Attached Notice of Decision, In the Matter of Ernest and Grace Trujillo, Incline Village. The detriments were the adjacent commercial property had noise, bright parking lights, and trespassers entered on their way to the commercial property. Id. The State Board reduced the Trujillo's land value based on the evidence of the individual detriments to the land. The State Board's reduction of the base lot value was also predicated on the evidence in the record of comparable land sales from the same area and the Assessor's testimony. See, Attached State Board Equalization Order. This Court may base its decision on facts of which judicial notice shall or may be taken. 138 A.L.R. Fed. 393 (1997). See also, NRS 47.130 and 47.140. The State board requests that this Court take 111

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

judicial notice of the attached equalization decisions as State Board's Addendum, (SBA) pp. 1-11.

2. Standard for Mandamus Relief

While the Nevada Supreme Court remanded this case on the issue of whether the lower court should have proceeded to determine whether Village League's claim for injunctive relief was viable, the Supreme Court cited to NRS 34.160, which seems to suggest, although a writ was not requested with respect to the instant matter until Village League filed its Amended Complaint on June 19, 2009, that the Supreme Court may have intended that a writ standard apply. Indeed, the Amended Complaint includes a Petition for Writ of Mandamus. NRS 34.160 states in pertinent part: "The writ may be issued by the Supreme Court, a district court or a judge of the district court, to compel the performance of an act which the law especially enjoins as a duty resulting from an office, trust or station"

Mandamus relief, like injunctive relief, is an extraordinary remedy and mandamus will issue only when the right to the relief requested is clear and the petitioners have no plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law. Gumm ex rel. Gumm v. Nevada Dep't of Education, 113 P.3d 853, 856, 121 Nev. 371, 375 (2005).

a. Clear Duty Requirement

Prior to 2008 and this Court's decision in State ex rel. State Board of Equalization v. Barta. 124 Nev. 58, 188 P.3d 1092 (2008) it was unclear that there was some separate or different duty to equalize than what the equalization proceedings required by the provisions discussed in Section A1, above and the State Board had historically equalized as required by those specific provisions of NRS Chapter 361 using its broad equalization power under NRS 361.395 when it realized that properties were subject to similar factors that would influence values.

Furthermore, while a general duty to equalize is provided in NRS 361.395, most recently this Court has noted that "Although the statutes clearly provide that the State Board has a duty to equalize, there appears to be a lack of certainty in the procedures for the equalization process" in Marvin v. Fitch, 126 Nev. 18, ____, 232 P.3d 425, 430 (2010).

10 Nevada Office of the Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, NV 89701-4717 11 12 13 14 15 16

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

28

NRS Chapter 361, the Court stated "lacks clarity as to the processes and procedures that the State Board undertakes in determining to equalize property valuations, equalization methods, and the relevant sequence of events." Id.

Nevertheless, since the duty was clarified in Barta, that the State Board had a more general or broad duty to equalize which involved something other than hearing appeals or responding to issues as brought to it by the County Assessors or taxpayers, the State Board, which at the time of the Barta decision consisted of a majority of newly appointed members worked diligently to review and digest the relevant statutory provisions and case law. The State Board began the regulatory process to develop regulations on general equalization pursuant to NRS 361.395. Ultimately, those regulations were adopted by the State Board and became fully effective on October 1, 2010. See LCB File No. R153-09, p. 8 of Village League's Addendum to its Opening Brief. Additionally, the State Board met on March 22, 2010 to consider statewide equalization pursuant to NRS

Additionally, the State Board met on March 22, 2010, to discuss statewide equalization. The State Board's posted Agenda for the March 22, 2010 meeting provided in Item B as follows:

Review of tax rolls of the various counties; review of valuation methods used by each county assessor and consideration of possible equalization action for tax years 2008-2009 and 2009-2010 pursuant to NRS 361.395.

The Agenda also listed the County Assessors scheduled to appear at the March 22, 2010 State Board meeting. The State Board convened on March 22, 2010, at 8:09 a.m. and after opening remarks and introduction of Board Members, the Board considered Agenda Item B. The State Board proceeded to a lengthy discussion and heard from assessors from each of the 17 counties about the methods and process used by them in performing their duties. The

111

111 26

111 27

23

24

25

26

27

28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

Agenda of the State Board's March 22, 2010 is contained in the attached SBA, pp. 12.2

Finally, with respect to the clear duty requirement, in its Remand Order, this Court cited, Fondren v. State Tax Commission, 350 So.2d 1329 (Miss. 1977), in which case a private person (Fondren) sought an injunction effectively barring collection of the assessed taxes, by enjoining recapitulation of the rolls, until they are in compliance with statutory law requiring equalization. The Mississippi Supreme Court found that Fondren had stated a cause of action, pursuant to a statute that conferred jurisdiction on courts over suits by taxpayers to restrain collection of taxes "levied or attempted to be collected without authority of law." The duty of the Tax Commission, the breach of which was found could be a basis for such an injunction, was as follows (as stated in the Mississippi court's opinion):

> The Legislature has imposed the duty of enforcing this section on the State Tax Commission. Mississippi Code Annotated section 27-35-113(1972) reads in part:

> It shall be the duty of the tax commission to carefully examine the recapitulations of the assessment rolls of the counties, when received, to compare the assessed valuation of the various classes of property in the respective counties, to investigate and determine if the assessed valuation of any classes of property in any one or more counties of the state is not equal and uniform with the assessed values fixed upon the same classes of property in other counties of the state, and to ascertain if any class of property in any one or more counties is assessed for less than the true value of the property.

The same section goes on to give the Commission the authority to equalize assessments among the counties. The next section, Miss. Code Ann. § 27-35-115 (1972), instructs the Commission to report its determinations to the various boards of supervisors. The following section, Miss. Code Ann. § 27-35-117 (1972), provides a method for the boards of supervisors and for affected individuals to contest the determination of the State Tax Commission. However, the final authority for determining assessments rests with the Commission.

² The State Board respectfully requests that this Court take judicial notice of the March 22, 2010, proceedings before the State Board at which it met to consider its statutory duty under NRS 361.395 to review the rolls of the various counties and consider possible equalization statewide for the 2008-2009 and 2009-2010 tax years. A court may take judicial notice of facts that are "[c]apable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned, so that the fact is not subject to reasonable dispute." See, NRS 47.130(2)(b).

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Similarly, in Nevada the final administrative authority for determining equalization lies with the State Board. However, unlike the duty to equalize found in NRS 361.395, which simply states that the State Board shall "Equalize property valuations in the State," the duty articulated in the Mississippi statute is very clear and defined. Additionally, compared with the provisions in NRS 361.3333 which contains the process for the Department and the Tax

NRS 361.333 Procedure.

1. Not later than May 1 of each year, the Department shall:

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